Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

DIRECTOR OF DEPARTMENT OF 
)

PUBLIC SAFETY,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No.  07-1579 PO



)

KHUM HAIM HAYES,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION

The Director of the Department of Public Safety (“the Director”) has the authority to discipline Khum Haim Hayes because Hayes twice committed the criminal offense defined in 18 USC § 1001(a)(2).
  

Procedure


On September 24, 2007, the Director filed a complaint against Hayes.  We scheduled a hearing for March 21, 2008.  On March 20, 2008, we continued the hearing until August 18, 2008, because we were unable to obtain service.  On July 3, 2008, we caused our notice of complaint/notice of hearing and a copy of the complaint and our March 20, 2008, order to be served personally upon Hayes in federal prison.  Hayes did not respond to the complaint.  We held our hearing on August 18, 2008.  Assistant Attorney General Christopher R. Fehr 
represented the Director.  No one appeared for Hayes.  The case became ready for our decision when the reporter filed the transcript on August 18, 2008.
Findings of Fact

1. Hayes holds a Class A peace officer license in Missouri.  The license was current and active at all relevant times.
2. On December 1, 2005, Hayes was on duty as an officer of the Moline Acres Police Department in Missouri.  
3. On December 1, 2005, Hayes made a traffic stop of a female driver, M.C.
4. Afterwards, M.C. complained to the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) that Hayes had forcibly sexually assaulted her during the traffic stop (“M.C.’s allegations”).  
5. On December 20, 2005, Special Agents of the FBI questioned Hayes about M.C.’s allegations.  Hayes told the FBI that he made the traffic stop of M.C. but then released her and last saw her driving away from the scene of the traffic stop.  Hayes’ statement was false because Hayes had continued contact with M.C. and had taken her to another location after the traffic stop.  Hayes knew that this statement was false when he made it and intended it to deceive the FBI.    
6. On June 15, 2006, Special Agents of the FBI questioned Hayes about M.C.’s allegations.  Hayes told the Special Agents that he had not had any sexual contact with M.C.  Hayes’ statement was false because Hayes had touched M.C.’s breasts and vagina and had attempted to have sexual intercourse with her.  Hayes knew that his statement was false when he made it and intended it to deceive the FBI.
7. On September 28, 2006, a four-count indictment was filed in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Missouri (“the Court”).  On March 14, 2007, a jury found Hayes guilty of Counts 2 and 3, which charged:
COUNT TWO

The Grand Jury further charges that:


On or about December 20, 2005, in the Eastern District of Missouri, 
KHNUM HAIM HAYES,
the defendant herein, in a matter within the jurisdiction of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, a department or an agency of the United States, the defendant, knowingly and willfully made and caused to be made a false and fictitious material statement and representation, in that the defendant, in an interview with Special Agents of the FBI investigating allegations made by M.C. that she had been forcibly sexually assaulted by the defendant on December 1, 2005 during a traffic stop he made while on duty as a Moline Acres police officer falsely stated that while he had made the traffic stop, that he released M.C. after the traffic stop and last saw her driving away from the scene of the traffic stop, when in truth and fact as the defendant then knew, he had continued contact with M.C. and had taken her to another location after the traffic stop. 
In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.

COUNT THREE

The Grand Jury further charges that:

On or about June 15, 2006, in the Eastern District of Missouri, 
KHNUM HAIM HAYES,
the defendant herein, in a matter within the jurisdiction of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, a department or an agency of the United States, the defendant, knowingly and willfully made and caused to be made a false and fictitious material statement and representation, in that the defendant, in an interview with Special Agents of the FBI investigating allegations made by M.C. that she had been forcibly sexually assaulted by the defendant on December 1, 2005 during a traffic stop he made while on duty as a Moline Acres police officer falsely stated that while he had made the traffic stop, that he had not had any sexual contact with M.C. 
when, in truth and fact as the defendant then knew, he had touched M.C.’s breast and vagina and had attempted to have sexual intercourse with her. 
In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.


8.
On June 7, 2007, the Court imposed judgment upon the guilty verdicts for Counts 2 and 3.  The Court sentenced Hayes to 120 months of imprisonment, a term consisting of terms of 60 months on each of Counts 2 and 3, to be served consecutively to each other, followed by a term of two years of probation.  The Court also assessed $100 in criminal monetary penalties for each of Counts 2 and 3, for a total of $200.  
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the Director’s complaint.
  The Director has the burden of proving facts for which the law allows discipline.


The Director alleges in his complaint:
6.  On or about December 1, 2005, Respondent made a traffic stop with a female driver.  She alleged that he groped her and tried to sexually assault her.  He was interviewed by the FBI on December 20, 2005 and June 15, 2006 and lied to them both times.  This conduct violated Title 18 United State Code, § 1001.

7.  On or about March 14, 2007, Respondent was convicted in United States District Court, Eastern Division of Missouri of two counts of Making False Statements and was sentenced to 120 months in the custody of the United States Bureau of Prisons.  The Respondent is currently incarcerated.

8.  Respondent’s conduct as set fourth in paragraphs 6 and 7 violates § 590.080.1(2) and (3) RSMo.
*   *   *


10.  The license of [R]espondent should be disciplined based on his violation of § 590.080.1(2) RSMo.  

Hayes was convicted of two counts of violating 18 USC § 1001, which provides:

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this section, whoever, in any matter within the jurisdiction of the executive, legislative, or judicial branch of the Government of the United States, knowingly and willfully—

*   *   *
(2) makes any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation; . . .
*   *   *
shall be fined under this title, imprisoned not more than 5 years . . . .
I.  Section 590.080.1(2)
Section 590.080.1 provides:

1.  The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:
*    *   *


(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed[.]

Hayes’ conviction of violating 18 USC § 1001(a)(2) estops Hayes from offering any proof in a subsequent civil proceeding, such as ours, that he did not commit the acts for which he was convicted.
   

Collateral estoppel, a.k.a. issue preclusion, “precludes relitigation of an issue previously decided and incorporated into an earlier judgment.”  For an issue in the present action to be precluded by the doctrine of collateral estoppel:  (1) it must be identical to an issue decided in a prior adjudication; (2) the prior adjudication must have resulted in a judgment on the merits; (3) the party against whom the doctrine is being asserted must have been a party or was in privity with a party to the prior adjudication; and, (4) the party against whom the doctrine is asserted must have had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the prior adjudication.[
]
Hayes’ conviction meets the four requirements for application of collateral estoppel.  First, the Director is trying to establish the same criminal acts for disciplining Hayes’ license as Counts 2 and 3 of the indictment charged.  Second, the criminal proceeding resulted in a judgment on the merits when the court imposed sentence.
  Third, Hayes is the person convicted in the criminal proceeding.  

The fourth requirement is particularly important in cases of offensive non-mutual collateral estoppel.  “The principle of non-mutual collateral estoppel, as adopted in Missouri, permits use of a prior judgment to preclude relitigation of an issue even though the party asserting collateral estoppel was not a party to the prior case.”
  “[O]ffensive collateral estoppel normally involves the attempt by a plaintiff to rely on a prior adjudication of an issue to prevent the defendant from challenging a fact necessary to the plaintiff’s case and on which the plaintiff carries the burden of proof.”
  In this case, the Director, who was not a party to the criminal case, attempts to prevent Hayes from denying that he knowingly and willfully made the false statements to the FBI that he was found guilty of making in his criminal conviction.

Courts are more likely to find it fair to use a criminal judgment for estoppel when the judgment is found upon a jury verdict, as opposed to a guilty plea.
  “Because of the higher burden of proof and other procedural protections, a defendant in a criminal case has a full and fair opportunity to litigate the elements of an offense[.]”
  Also, 
[i]n exercising this discretion, the trial court must judge the concept of fairness based on the totality of the circumstances surrounding the prior and subsequent lawsuits.  For example, if during the prior lawsuit the defendant could foresee the subsequent suit, it would not be unfair to allow offensive use of collateral 
estoppel in the subsequent suit because defendant would have had the incentive to vigorously litigate the issue in the prior lawsuit.[
]  
Even in cases in which the prior proceeding was civil, the Missouri Supreme Court found it fair to allow the use of offensive non-mutual estoppel when it estopped an attorney in her Missouri disciplinary proceedings from re-litigating facts established in federal court disciplinary actions.

In this case, Hayes received the higher protections of the criminal proceedings.  Hayes had the incentive to vigorously litigate the issue of lying to the FBI in the criminal proceeding to avoid imprisonment and a fine.  Additionally, he could have anticipated that the Director would use a criminal conviction to attempt to discipline his license.    
We conclude that it is fair to allow Hayes’ criminal conviction to estop him from denying that he knowingly and willfully made false statements to the FBI, as charged.  We find that there is cause to discipline Hayes under § 590.080.1(2) because he twice committed the crime defined in 18 USC § 1001(a)(2).  

II.  Section 590.080.1(3)
In paragraphs 5 and 8 of the complaint, the Director sets forth § 590.080.1(3) and alleges that Hayes’ conduct violates that provision.  Section 590.080.1(3) provides the Director authority to discipline any licensee who:

[h]as committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]
Nevertheless, as paragraph 10, which we quoted above, shows, the Director asks that we only find cause to discipline Hayes “based on his violation of § 590.080.1(2).”  It is the Director's prerogative to decide which causes for discipline set forth in § 590.080.1 that he will rely upon.  
In paragraph 10, he chose to seek our decision only on whether § 590.080.1(2) authorizes discipline.  Accordingly, we make no decision on whether § 590.080.1(3) would authorize discipline.

III  The Director’s Regulation

We based our finding that Hayes committed a crime on his conviction in federal court.  However, in complaint paragraph 9, the Director asserts an additional basis for concluding that Hayes committed that offense.  The Director contends that Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090(2)(A) requires us to interpret the language “committed any criminal offense” in § 590.080.1(2) to include a person who has pled guilty to the offense.  The regulation provides:

(2) As used in section 590.080.1, RSMo:


(A) The phrase has “committed any criminal offense” includes a person who has pleaded guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of any criminal offense.

In addition, the Director cites § (3)(C) of the regulation, which provides:

(3) Pursuant to section 590.080.1(6), RSMo, the Director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *


(C) Has pleaded guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of a criminal offense, whether or not a sentence has been imposed.

We reject both instances of the Director’s reliance on Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090.  First, 11 CSR 75-13.090(3)(C) does not apply because the Director did not cite § 590.080.1(6) as a basis for disciplining Hayes.  Second, 11 CSR 75-13.090(2)(A) cannot define the terms of        § 590.080.1(2) because the Director had no authority to promulgate 11 CSR 75-13.090.  We have set forth our rationale for this conclusion in a number of our previous decisions and choose not to repeat it here.
  
Summary


There is cause to discipline Hayes under § 590.080.1(2).

SO ORDERED on September 12, 2008.



________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL       


Commissioner
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